FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington  
8/24/2022 2:43 PM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
8/29/2022  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

101214-4

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I

---

NO. 830376-I

---

ESCALA OWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE; JODI -PATTERSON O'HARE; G4  
CAPITAL SEATTLE HOLDINGS, LLC, 1921-27 FIFTH  
AVENUE HOLDINGS 591683; 1921-27 FIFTH AVENUE  
HOLDINGS LLC,

Respondents

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583  
Claudia M. Newman, WSBA 24928  
BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP  
123 NW 36<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 205  
Seattle, WA 98107  
(206) 264-8600

## **A. INTRODUCTION**

Although decades have passed since the Washington State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), RCW 43.21C, was adopted by our state legislature, this court has not yet provided guidance on the legal parameters around when a government agency can or cannot adopt existing environmental documents per RCW 43.21C.034 to meet its duties and obligations under that law. Nor has this court provided any direction about the extent that an “addendum” to an existing environmental impact statement (EIS) can be used to meet certain SEPA obligations. This case provides the court with the opportunity to address these questions for the first time.

A decision by this court on the issues presented will have implications that go far beyond the concerns of the immediate controversy. If allowed to stand as is, Division I’s opinion will allow every local jurisdiction and agency to rely on the adoption and addendum process to purge SEPA requirements that are

pivotal to ensuring government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and the reduction of environmental harm from their SEPA review process. To avoid that outcome, Petitioner seeks review and guidance on these issues of substantial public interest.

**B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Escala Owners Association seeks review.

**C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Division I filed its opinion on July 25, 2022.<sup>1</sup> *See* Appendix A hereto. The trial court’s decision was filed on July 30, 2021. *See* Appendix B hereto.

---

<sup>1</sup> On that same day, Division 1 filed another opinion in a parallel case that presented the same central legal issue that is presented in this case. *See Escala Owners Association v. City of Seattle*, 2022 WL 2915536 (July 25, 2022). Escala Owners Association has also filed a Petition for Review with this court in that case. The introduction and the legal argument on “Issue 1” are nearly identical in the two Petitions.

#### **D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the City of Seattle hearing examiner err as a matter of law when he allowed the City to use the adoption and addendum process in a manner that violated SEPA regulations that ensure government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and the reduction of environmental harm?

2. Did the City of Seattle hearing examiner err when she<sup>2</sup> failed to require a worst-case analysis of possible health impacts to the residents of Escala when scientific uncertainty about those impacts made it impossible to forecast the impacts accurately?

---

<sup>2</sup> This matter went through two separate hearing examiner hearings with two different examiners. The first examiner (“he”) addressed the first issue above and the second examiner (“she”) addressed the second issue.

## E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I’s opinion is generally correct in its recitation of the facts and procedure. Op. at 4-9. However, several points bear emphasis.

The Developers<sup>3</sup> have proposed development of a 48-story building at the corner of 5th Avenue and Virginia Street in Downtown Seattle (the “5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project”). AR 2. The building will include 431 apartments, 155 hotel rooms, retail, and about 13,000 square feet of restaurant and bar uses. *Id.*<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> This Petition refers to Respondents Jodi-Patterson O’Hare, G4 Capital Seattle Holdings, LLC, 1921-27 Fifth Avenue Holdings 591683, and 1921 Fifth Avenue Holdings LLC as the “Developers.”

<sup>4</sup> The 5th and Virginia Project is not the only new tower that has recently been proposed on this same block. A different developer, Seattle Downtown Hotel & Residences, has proposed to build a 54-story building with a hotel, apartment units, and retail stores on the corner of 5th Avenue and Stewart Street (the “Altitude Project”). AR 3346; CP 7030. The Altitude Project is the subject of the Division I decision in *Escala Owners Association v. City of Seattle*, 2022 WL 2915536 (July 25, 2022) and the subject of the other nearly identical Petition for Review that was filed by Escala on August 24, 2022 with this court.

Escala, a 30-story residential condominium building with over 400 residents, is located at the corner of 4<sup>th</sup> and Virginia, immediately adjacent to and west of the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project site. CP 7027. The 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia skyscraper will be cheek-to-jowl with the Escala, with only a narrow 18-foot wide alley separating the two. The proposed building is slated to be built just 20 feet from the Escala's east facing residential units. The new building would block almost all light from reaching these units in the morning, when access to light is most critical for regulating the circadian rhythm. Emerging science indicates that the loss of light is not just an aesthetic issue, but can cause significant health effects as it disrupts the circadian rhythms that regulate basic biological functions.

The proposed building will also result in massive traffic congestion, circulation, loading, access and safety impacts in and near the alley. Even before the traffic from the new building is added, vehicle traffic and truck loading circulation through the

alley is highly constricted given the narrow width of the alley and frequent daily need for service access. If the proposed building proceeds with its current design, the public service, traffic, and safety problems in and around the alley will be horrendous.

Since the Project was first announced, Escala Owners Association has implored the City and the Developers to make small changes to the building to address the project's significant adverse impacts. The residents of Escala never objected to development of the project site in a general sense. Indeed, Escala proposed a *taller* building with the same square footage, but set back slightly further from the alley, with a more slender design. Because of the City's truncated SEPA process, that alternative was never studied. The City failed to assess whether a design of that sort could accomplish the developer's objectives with less environmental impact—SEPA's exact purpose.

The City of Seattle employed a hollow SEPA process to check the boxes instead of engaging in a meaningful SEPA

review of impacts. Rather than prepare an EIS specifically for the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project, the City relied on a final EIS from January, 2005, which was initiated in 2003 for legislative zoning proposals being considered by the Seattle City Council at that time. That EIS was meaningless for purposes of assessing the actual impacts of the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project.

Apparently recognizing that the old EIS was devoid of any meaningful assessment of impacts of the Project, the City issued an addendum to that old EIS that contained some, but not all, of the information and analysis that was required to be in the EIS.

Most conspicuously absent was the heart of the SEPA analysis: a comparison of alternatives. This broken process allowed the City to avoid accountability and dodge SEPA requirements, including the requirement to consider alternative building designs, such as a taller, skinnier building, that would have had less significant adverse impacts on Escala.

## **F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

This court should address two important SEPA questions that each present issues of substantial statewide public interest – (1) whether a lead agency can utilize the SEPA adoption and addendum process to evade SEPA requirements that are pivotal to ensuring a comparison of alternatives, government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and reduction of environmental harm, and (2) the extent that a City must employ the “worst-case analysis” requirement in WAC 197-11-080(2). Both of these questions have broad public interest implications and neither have been addressed by this court before.

### **1. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted legal requirements that govern the use of the adoption and addendum process.**

When it adopted SEPA, the state legislature recognized that “each person has a fundamental and inalienable right to a healthful environment and that each person has a responsibility

to contribute to the preservation and enhancement of the environment.” RCW 43.21C.020. The central purpose of SEPA is to protect these fundamental and inalienable rights and local governments and state agencies are assigned the responsibility to protect those rights. *Id.*

SEPA’s principal mechanism for protecting these rights is not a list of substantive mandates. Instead, SEPA is about knowledge. SEPA requires that, for any major action significantly affecting the quality of the environment, an agency must prepare an “environmental impact statement” or “EIS.” RCW 43.21C.030. Detailed information about impacts and an analysis of alternative proposals must be presented in the EIS. WAC 197-11-440.

The central driving force behind these requirements is to ensure that government bodies are fully informed about the environmental impacts of their decisions before making those decisions. *Wild Fish Conservancy v. Washington Dept. of Fish*

*and Wildlife*, 198 Wn.2d 846, 502 P.3d 359 (2022); *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d 80, 392 P.3d 1025 (2017); *Norway Hill Preservation and Protection Ass’n v. King County Council*, 87 Wn.2d 267, 272, 552 P.2d 674 (1976). The process should not become a discarded hypothetical exercise, but must instead serve practically as an important contribution to the decisionmaking process. *The Lands Council v. Washington*, 176 Wn. App 787, 803-804, 309 P.3d 734 (2013). The information and analysis in an EIS is not meant to simply rationalize or justify decisions already made. *Id. citing* WAC 197-11-406. SEPA documents are not prepared to adorn a bookshelf. An EIS must be useful. *Columbia Riverkeeper*, 188 Wn.2d at 105. “The EIS should educate decision-makers on the likely environmental consequences of the action as well as highlight ‘reasonable alternatives’ to the proposal.” *Id.* at 105-106. Armed with the knowledge gained from the EIS process, the

result should be a project that accomplishes a proponent's objectives with less environmental harm.

The requirement that an EIS identify and assess the impacts of reasonable alternatives to the proposal, including a no-action alternative, is the heart of SEPA. RCW 43.21C.030. *See also* WAC 197-11-400; WAC 197-11-402; WAC 197-11-440(5), WAC 197-11-792(2)(b). “It is difficult to overstate the importance of reasonable alternatives to achieving SEPA's underlying policy goals, which seek to balance the needs of the environment with the inevitability of development. *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d at 106) *citing* RCW 43.21C.010(1)-(4). By explaining how the action agency can achieve its project objectives at a lower environmental cost, the discussion of reasonable alternatives in the EIS carries out SEPA's core policy in the form of practical advice.” *Id.* If an agency follows a process that avoids a comparison of alternatives, it has ripped the heart out of SEPA.

To avoid excessive paperwork, lead agencies are allowed to adopt an existing EIS that was prepared for a different proposal. But agencies can do this only in limited circumstances. The existing EIS must “adequately address environmental considerations set forth in RCW 43.21C.030,” which includes the requirement to analyze “alternatives to the proposed action.” RCW 43.21C.034; RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c)(iii). The proposal that is assessed in the existing EIS must be “substantially similar” to the new proposal, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and “provide[s] a basis for comparing their environmental consequences,” RCW 43.21C.034. Finally, an existing EIS can be adopted for use on a new proposal only if the information in the existing EIS is accurate and reasonably up-to-date. SMC 25.05.600(B).

Reading RCW 43.21C.034 in a way that harmonizes with SEPA’s overall purpose, it is clear that the legislative intent of including limitations and restrictions on the adoption of existing documents was to ensure that the existing document actually

provides meaningful information that decisionmakers can rely on about the impacts of the current project and alternatives before making a decision.

In this case, the City concluded that the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project was a major action that would significantly impact the environment under RCW 43.21C.030, which triggered the requirement to prepare an EIS for the project—including an alternatives analysis. RCW 43.21C.031; WAC 197-11-734. But instead of preparing a new EIS, the City recycled an old EIS that had been previously prepared in 2005 for zoning legislation referred to as the “Downtown Seattle Height and Density Changes.” AR 2306-2309. That old EIS did not contain any assessment of alternatives to the building design at issue here. Nor did it address the impacts of the current proposal on the alley or the loss of light and related health effects on Escala’s residents. The old EIS didn’t provide meaningful information about or analysis of any of the impacts of the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia

Project. In fact, the 2005 EIS assumed that the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project site would not be developed at all. AR 2985-2988; AR 2769; AR 2998-3032. Escala, which was built in 2009, did not even exist when the old EIS was prepared. CP 7058.

The information in the old 2005 EIS was too outdated, broad, and generic to lend itself to a meaningful or useful assessment about the specific environmental impacts of the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project on this specific project site.

If the analysis of impacts of different building designs had been presented in a Draft EIS, the public and other agencies with expertise could have provided input, critiques, or ideas for mitigation during the public comment period and the City would have been obligated to consider and respond to those comments in a final EIS. SDCI would have had to compare the impacts that would occur under the different designs. That comparison of impacts would have informed its decision to either approve, deny, or condition the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project.

These deficiencies were not minor. To cure the obvious shortcomings in the 2005 EIS, the City issued a series of addenda. None of them included an analysis of alternative building designs. Nothing the City did filled that gaping hole. The broken process utilized by the City obscured the fact that SDCI did not conduct any alternatives analysis at all for the 5<sup>th</sup> and Virginia Project. AR 982-1595, AR 1621-2230. While the City of Seattle code was amended to allow a taller, skinnier building on this site (*i.e.*, more floor space; more profit), SMC 23.49.008.B, setback further from the alley, the City never considered that option.

- 2. Guidance on these issues is a matter of substantial public interest because it involves government accountability, meaningful public involvement, and the reduction of environmental harm on a state-wide level.**

A decision by this court on the issues presented will have implications that go far beyond the concerns of the immediate controversy for two reasons.

First, if it stands as is, the Court of Appeals' decision will allow agencies and local governments throughout the State of Washington to use an addendum to present the information and analysis that is required to be in an EIS. This is an alarming proposition that will have dire consequences to the public interest.

An "addendum" is a tool established in the Department of Ecology SEPA rules, specifically WAC 197-11-625, that can be used by a local government to add factual corrections or other information that does not warrant further public comment and input. WAC 197-11-660(4)(c). An addendum is not subject to the same public review and process and content requirements as an EIS. *See* WAC 197-11-400 through WAC 197-11-460; WAC 197-11-500 through 570. No public comment period is required for an addendum. WAC 197-11-625. The addendum must be circulated only to the recipients of a final EIS. *Id.* (In this case, that is the people who received the Final EIS back in 2005 before

Escala existed). In fact, even if someone who did not receive the FEIS asks to be notified when an addendum is issued, the lead agency has no legal obligation to provide notice of the addendum to that person despite his or her request. *Id.*

The entire review, comment, and responsiveness to comments on a draft EIS, which are the focal point of SEPA's commenting process, would be eliminated if agencies are allowed to use an addendum to provide information that is supposed to be in an EIS. WAC 197-11-500(4). The SEPA rules are meticulous and thorough in describing the information and analysis that must be presented in the EIS, such as an analysis of impacts, an assessment of reasonable alternatives to the proposal, and consideration of mitigation measures to lessen or avoid the adverse impacts. WAC 197-11-440; RCW 43.21C.030. *See also* WAC 197-11-400; WAC 197-11-402; WAC 197-11-440(5), WAC 197-11-792(2)(b).

But if an addendum can be used to present this information, agencies can escape the requirement to prepare a draft EIS and ignore public notice and comment requirements on that draft EIS. SEPA provisions that require government accountability and meaningful review following the public comment period via the publication of a final EIS can be ignored. If they can use an addendum, agencies can dispense with the requirement to publish all of the public comments and the agency's response to those public comments in a Final EIS after the public comment period. In fact, if they use an addendum, they do not have to include all of the content that is required in an EIS that's set forth in WAC 197-11-400. By using the addendum process in lieu of an EIS, the lead agency does not have to consider modifying alternatives; developing new alternatives; supplementing, modifying, or improving the analysis; making corrections; or explaining why the comments don't warrant further agency response. WAC 197-11-560(1).

Put simply, Division 1's holding will allow lead agencies to use the adoption and addendum process to circumvent the entire public process required by WAC 197-11-500 through 570. In fact, Seattle regularly uses addenda in lieu of supplemental impact statements, short-circuiting the detailed review mandated by the statute. That thwarts the SEPA goals of meaningful public involvement, government accountability, and the reduction of environmental harm. Government agencies and interested citizens would not have an opportunity to review and comment on the alternatives analysis, the description of the existing environment, and the impacts analysis. The lead agency and applicant would not have an opportunity to improve their project or to encourage the resolution of potential concerns or problems prior to issuing a final statement. The Court of Appeals decision will have dire consequences to the public interest across the entire State of Washington if it is allowed to stand as is. It is directly inconsistent with this court's description of SEPA goals

and policy in *Wild Fish Conservancy v. Washington Dept. of Fish and Wildlife*, 198 Wn.2d 846, 502 P.3d 359 (2022); *Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of Vancouver USA*, 188 Wn.2d 80, 392 P.3d 1025 (2017); and *Norway Hill Preservation and Protection Ass'n v. King County Council*, 87 Wn.2d 267, 272, 552 P.2d 674 (1976). Addressing the proper--and improper--use of addenda is an important issue of first impression to be resolved by this Court.

This case also provides a unique opportunity for this court to closely examine the limiting language in RCW 43.21C.034, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and SMC 25.05.600(B) and provide much needed guidance for state agencies and local jurisdictions on the legal parameters around when they can or cannot adopt existing environmental documents to meet their duties and obligations under SEPA. Aside from Superior Court Judge Richardson, the lower courts and hearing examiner mistakenly considered it a forgone conclusion that a local jurisdiction can

adopt an existing EIS even if the information in that EIS is unreliable, inaccurate, and outdated. The Court of Appeals opinion nullifies the limiting language in RCW 43.21C.034, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and SMC 25.05.600(B).

While her decision is obviously not binding on this court, Superior Court Judge Richardson's decision in the Altitude appeal is persuasive because she is the only decision maker who actually focused on the two specific questions that are presented above: (1) whether an addendum can be used as a substitute for an EIS and (2) whether the limiting language of RCW 43.21C.034, WAC 197-11-600(4)(e), and SMC 25.05.600(B) had been met by the old EIS. Once a court actually focuses on those requirements, the outcome is obvious – the old EIS is inadequate and addenda cannot be used to cure the error. Sweeping those issues under the rug as the Court of Appeals did, will allow local jurisdictions and agencies to adopt old, outdated documents that don't provide meaningful information about or

analysis of proposals and then use the addendum process in lieu of preparing a proper EIS in violation of SEPA.

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