# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/23/2022 11:46 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101214-4

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## ESCALA OWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE; JODI PATTERSON O'HARE; G4 CAPITAL SEATTLE HOLDINGS, LLC; 1921-27 FIFTH AVENUE HOLDINGS 591683; 1921-27 FIFTH AVENUE HOLDINGS, LLC

## Respondents.

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

John C. McCullough WSBA #12740 Ian S. Morrison, WSBA #45384 Katie Kendall, WSBA #48164 McCullough Hill Leary PS 701 5th Ave., Suite 6600 Seattle, WA 98104

Tel: (206) 812-3388 Fax: (206) 812-3389

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In *Thornton Creek*, the Court held that the City erred in "incorporating by reference" the EIS. Instead, the Court held it should have adopted the 1992 EIS instead. The fact the City did not adopt the EIS was found to be harmless error. *Id.* at 44.

Rules. Tellingly, Escala does not even mention *Thornton*Creek. The "dire consequences" Escala predicts will occur
because of this Opinion did not occur in the 20 years that have
elapsed since the similar decision in *Thornton Creek*. So,
Escala is unable to provide any reasoning as to how this
Opinion represents a seismic shift in the application of clear
SEPA rules and Division I precedent. None of the arguments
presented by Escala establish any "sweeping implications"
identified in Division I's holding. *Watson*, 155 Wn.2d at 577–

Indeed, Escala's arguments amount to nothing more than claiming that Division I was wrong. For example, Escala argues that the "old EIS is inadequate and addenda cannot be used to cure the error." Pet., p. 21. This is merely a conclusory assertion. It does not ask this Court to provide guidance on the EIS adoption and addendum process that would apply across the state; it simply asks this Court to review the specific facts of this case and reverse the Examiner, Superior Court, and Court of Appeals

decisions finding that the City's SEPA review was adequate. Escala's dissatisfaction with the result in this case does not create a substantial public interest.

## B. The City complied with SEPA.

Escala unsuccessfully challenges both the City's adoption of the Downtown EIS and its preparation of the Addenda. The Examiner correctly ruled that the City met its SEPA obligations by adopting the FEIS and preparing the three EIS Addenda, and the Court of Appeals properly upheld the Examiner's decision. The City's actions were consistent with SEPA because SEPA permits (1) adoption of existing documents; and (2) providing additional information through an addendum where the project results in no new significant adverse environmental impacts. SMC 25.05.600; WAC 197-11-600(4)(c).

The Petition fails to demonstrate anything incorrect about the City's use of these procedures. SEPA utilizes a practical approach that does not require local governments to start over

15

every time a new building is proposed and instead authorizes them to adopt existing analysis of a prior proposal where relevant. RCW 43.21C.034; *see* WAC 197-11-030(2)(b).<sup>4</sup> The current and prior proposals "need not be identical, but must have similar elements that provide a basis for comparing their environmental consequences." RCW 43.21C.034; *see also* WAC 197-11-600(2) (proposal under consideration may be "different than [the proposal] analyzed in the existing documents").

Because a new proposal may differ from the prior one, "the lead agency may require additional documentation to ensure that all environmental impacts have been adequately addressed." RCW 43.21C.034. This additional documentation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> E.g., WAC 197-11-402(7) ("Agencies *shall* reduce paperwork and the accumulation of background data by adopting or incorporating by reference, existing, publicly available environmental documents, *wherever possible*.") (emphasis added); WAC 197-11-640 ("Any environmental document . . . may be combined with any other agency documents to reduce duplication and paperwork and improve decision making.").

may take one of two forms: an addendum or SEIS, depending on whether the proposal presents probable, significant adverse impacts that were not previously analyzed. WAC 197-11-600(4)(e). An addendum "adds analyses or information about a proposal but does not substantially change the analysis of significant impacts and alternatives in the existing environmental document." WAC 197-11-600(4)(c); see Thornton Creek, 113 Wn. App. at 51.

Escala fails to explain what would be gained by requiring an entirely new EIS that would provide the same information in a different format. Indeed, the purpose of SEPA's procedural requirements is not to ensure *process for its own sake* but to ensure adequate *analysis and disclosure* to inform decisionmakers. *See Citizens v. City of Port Angeles*, 137 Wn. App. 214, 225 n.10, 151 P.3d 1079, 1085 (2007) (rejecting claim for relief that "seems to derive more from the drafting of the SEPA rules rather than from any legal insufficiency in the City's review"). Courts have repeatedly rejected procedural

challenges that depend solely on what appears in the document designated as the EIS as long as the relevant information is conveyed to decisionmakers at the end of the day – as it clearly was here through the Addenda and more. See, e.g., Klickitat Cty. Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat Cty., 122 Wn.2d 619, 637-38, 860 P.2d 390, 393 (1993) (declining to find EIS inadequate, despite its failure to adequately analyze relevant impacts, because it incorporated a study that provided "a reasonably thorough discussion" and could therefore "substitute[] for an otherwise inadequate level of analysis"). As in these cases, all the information at issue in this appeal has been reviewed and discussed ad nauseam by City reviewers. Here, through years of analysis, the City found that the Project would not cause new significant adverse environmental impacts and properly documented the environmental review through adoption of the Downtown EIS and three EIS Addenda, as allowed by SEPA and upheld in *Thornton Creek*.

# 1. The City properly adopted the Downtown EIS.

Escala argues that the decisions below considered "it a foregone conclusion that a local jurisdiction can adopt an existing EIS even if the information in that EIS is unreliable, inaccurate, and outdated." Pet., pp. 20-21. This is wrong. The first Examiner made a factual determination, after multiple days of testimony and evidence, that the Downtown EIS was *not* unreliable, inaccurate, or outdated. Indeed, the City concluded – and the Examiner found at hearing – that there were "similar elements" between the Project and the zoning change analyzed in the Downtown EIS because the Downtown EIS had "specifically anticipated projects of the type represented by [the Project]" and discussed the impacts of the upzone. Opinion, pp. 12-13. This Court must accept these factual conclusions as verities. See Families of Manito v. City of Spokane, 172 Wn. App. 727, 741, 291 P.3d 930 (2013) (reviewing court must accept hearing examiner's assessments of weight and credibility). Escala failed to demonstrate below that the

Downtown EIS was inaccurate or outdated with respect to these impacts and those factual issues are not a basis for this Court to accept review.

The Court of Appeals recognized that the City's adoption of the Downtown EIS was a routine application of RCW 43.21C.034 and WAC 197-11-600 as discussed in *Thornton*Creek – and that it was consistent with basic logic and the common-sense practice of incorporation by reference. This decision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

# 2. The SEPA Review was adequate.

The determination as to whether a supplemental EIS or an addendum is used for environmental review depends on a question that the Petition entirely ignores: whether the project under review will have new significant adverse impacts. WAC 197-11-600(4)(c). Escala's insurmountable problem continues to be that, through the past seven years, three Addenda, two Hearing Examiner appeals, a Superior Court appeal, and an appeal to the Court of Appeals, Escala has been unable to

demonstrate likely new significant adverse environmental impacts resulting from the Project. Instead, Escala focuses solely on the process, arguing that the Opinion would allow agencies "to use an addendum to present the information and analysis . . . that is required to be in an EIS." Pet., p. 16. As Division I observed, however,

Escala's argument is based on the false premise that, upon issuance of a DS for a proposal, the City's only option is preparation of a new EIS. On the contrary, adoption of the Downtown EIS along with the project specific Addenda did not ignore the requirement that an EIS be prepared; instead, it fulfilled it. RCW 43.21C.034 expressly authorizes use of existing environmental documents such as the Downtown EIS. The SEPA Rules then expressly allow adoption of existing EISs along with incorporating project specific addenda. WAC 197-11-600(4)(c).

# Opinion, p. 16.

The City did not "circumvent" the EIS process or use the Addendum "as a substitute for [creating a new] EIS." *See* Pet., pp. 19, 21. Instead, the City simply followed the text of WAC 197-11-600(4), under which creation of an addendum was proper and *no new EIS was required*. In claiming that the Opinion has

far-reaching implications, Escala is effectively asking this Court to ignore the substantive analysis, the plain language of SEPA, the *Thornton Creek* decision, and the highly fact-intensive inquiry to provide "guidance" that no City may adopt a programmatic EIS and provide project-specific analysis through an addendum when no additional significant adverse impacts are identified.

Escala attempts to show an issue of substantial public interest by arguing that the Addendum was prepared according to deficient procedures – specifically, that creation of an addendum does not require the same analysis of alternative approaches or public participation as creation of a new EIS, which Escala believes would have been more consistent with the purpose of SEPA. This argument does not make sense: an addendum was the correct document to use, and the regulatory procedures for creating an addendum are, by definition, consistent with the law. *See State v. Kingen*, 39 Wn. App. 124, 128, 692 P.2d 215 (1984) (if a statute's "language is clear, it

cannot be construed contrary to its plain statement" on the basis of "purpose and intent").

As the Court of Appeals recognized, Escala "ignores that the requirement for an alternatives analysis *is only triggered where a new EIS or SEIS is required.*" Opinion, p. 17 (emphasis added). "[T]here is no similar requirement for an analysis of alternatives in an addendum." *Id.* at 18 (citing WAC 197-11-625). Contrary to the claims in the Petition, alternatives were not ignored; when the facts of the record are reviewed, the Opinion concludes "the Downtown EIS and addendum provide[] a reasonably thorough discussion of alternatives." Opinion, p. 19.

Escala's complaint that the use of an addendum does not require the same responses to comments as a new EIS, Pet. p.

18, is similarly unavailing. According to Escala, because the SEPA rules do not require the same public comment process for an addendum as they do for preparation of a new EIS, use of the addenda "thwarts the SEPA goals of meaningful public"

involvement, government accountability, and the reduction of environmental harm." Pet., p. 15. This is a red herring. The public participation processes for an EIS and an addendum differ because they are subject to different regulatory procedures. Compare WAC 197-11-560 with WAC 197-11-625. Again, Escala asks the Court to erase the procedural distinctions carefully drawn by SEPA and the SEPA Rules. Tellingly, Escala ignores that the City Code actually requires circulation of an EIS addendum and a 15-day public comment period. SMC 25.05.625. Here, Escala had myriad opportunities to express its views, and the City repeatedly responded to those comments. Opinion, pp. 6-8. Thus, the issue raised by Escala regarding public participation is not relevant to this appeal.

There is no issue of substantial public interest because the City's adoption of the Downtown EIS and additional analyses in the Addenda was consistent with both the letter and

the spirit of SEPA: it applied the regulations and prepared an extraordinarily thorough analysis of the Project.

C. Escala fails to establish that reviewing the application of WAC 197-11-080 and the worst-case analysis is an issue of substantial public interest.

Escala also fails to demonstrate how the City's textbook application of worst-case analysis under WAC 197-11-080 is a matter of substantial public interest per RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should decline review this element of the Petition.

Escala's argument is that "defining the legal parameters" of the worst-case analysis "would prevent government from continuing to sweep these issues under a rug." Pet., p. 25. Any implication that the City swept anything under the rug is misplaced. The City thoroughly considered these issues — including reviewing Escala's expert comments and requiring hundreds of pages of additional environment analysis from Respondent's experts in response — over the course of several years prior to making its SEPA decision. Opinion, p. 8. The second Examiner upheld the City's worst-case analysis after

hearing the testimony from Escala's experts. *Id.* at 21-23. Ultimately, Division I unanimously upheld the City's worst-case analysis after a thorough analysis of WAC 197-11-080 framework and process. *Id.* 

Escala simply reargues that Division I (and the Examiner) was wrong in upholding the City's textbook application of SEPA's worst-case analysis requirements.

Escala has not identified any "sweeping implication" of Division I's unpublished decision that relates only to development of a single block in Downtown Seattle. *Watson*, 155 Wn.2d at 577-78. Nor has Escala identified how this Court's review of Division I's decision would provide any guidance to the application of the worst-case analysis. Escala's disagreement with how Division I applied the text of WAC 197-11-080 here is not a matter of substantial public interest.

Escala's argument for review on the worst-case analysis fails to establish any of the *Watson* factors for substantial public interest. 155 Wn.2d at 577-78. Division I's decision does not

have the potential to affect similar proceedings, nor does it immediately impact a significant segment of the population.

This is a run of the mill land use appeal by condo owners in a single condo building.

Nor is this specific issue likely to recur or result in unnecessary litigation. Escala failed to cite a single instance that supports its allegation that local governments are "sweeping" SEPA decisions under the rug using the worst-case analysis. On the contrary, at the urging of advocates who described how meritless SEPA appeals such as those advanced by Escala here have delayed badly needed housing, the Legislature exempted SEPA appeals based on light-related claims for housing projects – like this Project – that secured design review approval. RCW 43.21C.501(3)(b); see also H.B. Rep. on Substitute H.B. 5818, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess., at 5 (Wash. 2022). Escala's worst-case analysis claim falls squarely within this new legislative exemption. Thankfully, future land use approvals throughout Washington eligible for RCW

43.21C.501(3)(b)'s protections will not need to defend themselves from litigious neighbors seeking to weaponize SEPA to protect their private views. Finally, Escala advances no argument under any of the other *Watson* factors. This Court, therefore, should decline this element of the Petition as well.

# D. The Court should award attorneys' fees and costs to Respondents.

Division I determined that Respondents are entitled to their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs under RCW 4.84.370 as Respondents were the prevailing party before the Examiner, the Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals. Opinion, pp. 23-24. This section also provides for an award of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in an appeal of a land use decision to the Supreme Court. Respondents should be awarded attorneys' fees and costs in the event the Petition for Review is denied. RAP 18.1(j); *Prosser Hill Coal. v. Spokane Cty.*, 176 Wn. App. 280, 292-3, 309 P.3d 1202, 1208 (2013).

# V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Respondents City and the Applicant respectfully ask this Court to deny the Petition.

DA	TED this	23 <sup>rd</sup> day	of Septe	mber 20	)22.
///					
///					
///					

Pursuant to RAP 18.17(b), I certify that this answer to a petition for review contains 4,542 words.